NO. 48095-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH TURNER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Erik D. Price, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER L. DOBSON
DANA M. NELSON
Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecutor committed multiple acts of flagrant misconduct.

2. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's misconduct.

3. RCW 43.43.7541's DNA-collection fee and RCW 7.68.035's Victim Penalty Assessment (VPA) violate substantive due process when applied to defendants who have not been shown to have the ability, or likely future ability, to pay.

4. The trial court erred when it imposed a discretionary legal financial obligation (LFO) mistakenly believing it was mandatory.

5. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when defense counsel misinformed the trial court that generic "court costs" were a mandatory LFO.

6. If the State seeks appellate costs, those should be denied.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. In her rebuttal argument, the prosecutor misstated the law as to its burden of proof and grossly misrepresented a key fact. She also misled the jury in its duty to independently determine credibility by directing that witness credibility was an all-or-nothing proposition. She also committed misconduct when she impugned the role of defense

counsel calling his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence “insulting” and “offensive.” Finally, she gave a personal opinion as to the defendants’ veracity by calling their testimony as to a certain fact a “smear campaign.” The cumulative misconduct struck at the heart of the defense’s theories. Was this flagrant and prejudicial misconduct?

2. Defense counsel failed to object to the above stated misconduct. Did this constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

3. RCW 43.43.7541 requires trial courts to impose a DNA-collection fee each time a felony offender is sentenced. This ostensibly serves the State’s interest in funding the collection, testing, and retention of a convicted defendant’s DNA profile. RCW 7.68.035 requires trial courts to impose a VPA of \$500. The purpose is to fund victim-focused programs. These statutes mandate that trial courts order these LFOs even when the State has not shown the defendant the ability to pay or the likely future ability to pay. Do the statutes violate substantive due process?

4. Because of appellant’s indigent status, the trial court decided to waive discretionary LFOs. However, it mistakenly believed generic “court costs” were a mandatory fee. Did the trial court fail to recognize and exercise its discretion when it ordered appellant to pay \$200 in court costs because it mistakenly thought it was a mandatory LFO?

5. Defense counsel wrongly informed the trial court that generic “court costs” were a mandatory fee. The trial court imposed that fee but waived all discretionary fees. Did appellant receive ineffective assistance of counsel?

6. Appellant is indigent. Should this Court deny appellant costs if they are requested?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On February 2, 2014, the Thurston County prosecutor charged appellant Kenneth Turner with one count of second degree robbery and one count of second degree theft of an access device. CP 2. On October 29, 2014, the state dropped the robbery charge and, instead, added one count of third degree malicious mischief. CP 3.

A jury found Turner not guilty of malicious mischief, but guilty of theft. CP 11-12. He was sentenced to 17 months of confinement and ordered to pay a \$500 VPA, a \$100 DNA-collection fee, and \$200 for generic “court costs.” CP 40-49. The State also asked for witness costs. 2RP 5.¹ Based on Turner’s indigence, the trial court declined to impose

¹ “2RP” refers to the sentencing transcript, which is paginated separately from the multi-volume trial transcript.

witness costs. 2RP at 17. Turner timely appeals his convictions and the order imposing LFOs. CP 50-51.

2. Substantive Facts.

On June 1, 2014, Turner went to a club in downtown Olympia with his girlfriend, Tanya Satak. RP 521. They were joined by Turner's friend, Rob Simerly. RP 608-09. Satak and Turner believed Simerly was high on methamphetamine that night. RP 551-53, 609-10.

Kylie Thorson, her husband, and a group of friends were also at the club. RP 121, 270. While there, Thorson wore a wristlette attached to her arm by a strap. RP 269. It contained among other things, an iPhone and two credit cards. RP 269-70.

At one point, Turner was approached by Thorson's friends and words were exchanged. One of Thorson's friends used the "N" word and threw a drink on Turner. RP 183, 227-28, 270, 523-25, 613-14. When one of the men in Thorson's group passed his drink in order to free his hands, Turner felt threatened and punched him. RP 614-15. Security escorted Turner out of the club. RP 616.

In the parking lot, Turner was looking for Satak and Simerly when Thorson's husband and the man Turner punched came around the corner to continue the fight. RP 616-17. Thorson and her friends exited the club and watched the fight. RP 67.

Meanwhile, Satak and Simerly went to Satak's car and attempted to back it out so they could pick up Turner and leave. RP 232. Unbeknownst to Satak, however, Thorson and a friend were standing behind the car. RP 531. Thorson claimed the car tapped her. RP 274. She angrily smacked the top of the trunk. RP 96, 233, 531. Satak got out and confronted her. RP 534. Thorson hit Satak in the face with her wristlette, so Satak tased Thorson. RP 71, 534-34, 559. Afterward, Satak and Turner quickly got in the car with Simerly and left. RP 534, 618.

During the altercation with Satak, Thorson lost her wristlette. RP 71. It apparently landed next to the passenger door of Satak's car. RP 71, 280. Satak and Turner testified that Turner never took the wristlette or its contents. RP 534, 561, 569, 619, 628. Thorson was the only person who claimed to have seen Turner take the wristlette. RP 269. Others in her group were watching the incident, but none saw Turner pick up the wristlette. RP 74, 89, 150, 196.

Although Thorson claimed to have seen Turner take the wristlette, after Satak's car left the parking lot, she asked for a flashlight and searched the area for her wristlette. RP 330. When she did not find it, Thorson borrowed another phone and used it to track her own phone through a locater app. RP 284.

Meanwhile, Simerly guided Satak to his house. RP 535. Once there, Simerly removed his car from the garage so Satak could park her car in it. RP 536. Satak and Turner testified that once they were inside the house, Simerly produced Thorson's cell phone from his pocket. RP 536, 566. Wanting to get rid of the phone, Simerly went into to the garage, destroyed the phone with a hammer, and placed it in a trash bag.² RP 538-39, RP 568.

Meanwhile, police tracked the phone to Simerly's house. RP 360. When Simerly came out of the house holding the trash bag with Thorson's busted phone in it, they were waiting. RP 424-28. After a show-up identification by Thorson, all three were arrested – although Simerly was quickly released after he gave a statement to police implicating Turner.³ RP 361, 390. Thorson identified her phone as the one in the garbage can. RP 417. Thorson's credit cards were never located. RP 385.

² Simerly testified that the wristlette with the cell phone was in the car during the ride home, but he thought it was Satak's purse. RP 240. He speculated that some of the contents were discarded out the window while they were driving. RP 241. He claimed that after they arrived at his house, Turner destroyed the phone with the hammer and told him to throw it away. RP 244-45, 248.

³ Simerly was never charged. Turner was charged and convicted as set forth above. Satak was charged and convicted of fourth degree assault.

C. ARGUMENT

I. TURNER WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MULTIPLE ACTS OF FLAGRANT MISCONDUCT.

Turner was denied his right to a fair trial when the prosecutor committed multiple acts of misconduct during closing argument that resulted in an enduring prejudice to the outcome of the case.

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984); State v. Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 642, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Because of their unique position in the justice system, prosecutors must steer wide from unfair trial tactics. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676 (citing State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 70-71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)).

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those who have violated the peace and dignity of the state by breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as the representative of the people in a quasijudicial capacity in a search for justice.

Id. Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents and, therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated. Id.

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675, (citations omitted). Prejudice is established where there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. Id. at 578.

Failure to object to a prosecutor's improper remark constitutes waiver unless the remark is deemed to be flagrant and ill-intentioned. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). However, if the misconduct is flagrant, the petitioner has not waived his right to review of the conduct. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 661, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). In such cases, reversal is required if the misconduct caused an enduring and resulting prejudice. State v. Jones, 144 Wn. App. 284, 290, 183 P.3d 307, 311 (2008).

Here, the prosecutor flagrantly misstated the law as to what the State was required to prove in order to support a conviction for theft of an access device and misrepresented a key fact. The prosecutor also misrepresented to the jury that its decision as to witness credibility was an all-or-nothing proposition (i.e. it had to either find the witness was lying about everything or was truthful about everything). She also committed misconduct when she impugned the role of defense counsel and gave a personal opinion as to the defendants' veracity.

(i) Misstatement of the State's Burden of Proof and Misrepresentation of the Facts

1. Relevant facts

Thorson testified she possessed two credit cards in her purse when it was stolen, which she canceled after the incident. RP 269-70, 291. She never testified to using those credit cards to purchase anything of value, and she specifically stated she had paid in cash. RP 270, 304.

During closing argument, defense counsel argued that the State had not shown that Thorson's credit cards were "access devices." RP 752-56. He argued that before the jury could conclude the cards were access devices as defined by law, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Thorson's credit cards were able to be used to obtain anything of value. Id. Defense counsel also warned that the State may try to claim the defense's focus on the usability factor was merely a "red herring." RP 752. He emphasized, however, that the State had to prove the credit cards were an access device and it did not do so. RP 752.

Specifically, defense counsel pointed out there was no testimony establishing the cards were active for use (i.e. not expired or maxed out). RP 754. He underscored the fact the State had not provided any receipts or credit card statements to show the cards were tied to an active account. RP 753-54. Instead, the State offered only a vague assumption that

Thorson's credit cards must have been useable because she was carrying them. RP 753, 755. Defense counsel pointed out that mere possession of a credit card is insufficient to prove the card could be used to purchase something of value. RP 755-56.

In her rebuttal, the prosecutor responded to this argument in the following manner:

I want to touch on the access device, and I think this is important. First of all, I have never used the phrase "red herring" in my life. That is not how I talk. But more importantly, that's white noise, and it's a ridiculous argument, and it isn't a burden I have to prove to you, but be very clear, you do have evidence. Kylie specifically told you that not only did she have those items but she used those items to pay for drinks at the club, very specifically. There is no requirement, as you will see in your instructions, for bank statements, for credit card statements. That is insulting and it's offensive.

RP 783 (Emphasis added).

2. Legal Argument

A prosecutor commits misconduct by misstating the law regarding the State's burden of proof. State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213-14, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996); State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). This is because "[t]he prosecuting attorney misstating the law of the case to the jury is a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury." State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 P.2d 1213, 1217 (1984).

Additionally, a prosecutor commits misconduct by urging the jury to convict based on evidence outside the record. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Although a prosecutor has wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence, it is improper for a prosecutor to make arguments based on facts not in evidence or to misrepresent the facts. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d at 507–08.

Here, the prosecutor misstated the law, lessening the State’s burden of proof, and misrepresented the law when she stated the State had no burden to prove the access device could be used to obtain something of value and also misstated the facts when she claimed there was proof Thorson had used the credit cards that evening.

The State has the burden to prove the usability of credit cards when it seeks a conviction for theft of an access device under RCW 9A.56.040(1)(d). For purposes of that statute, “access device” is defined as:

any card, plate, code, account number, or other means of account access that can be used alone or in conjunction with another access device to obtain money, goods, services, or anything else of value, or that can be used to initiate a transfer of funds, other than a transfer originated solely by paper instrument.

RCW 9A.56.010(1) (emphasis added).

The Washington Supreme Court recently overturned a conviction for insufficient evidence where the State failed to show a stolen credit card could be used to obtain something of value at the time the card was stolen. State v. Rose, 175 Wn.2d 10, 12, 282 P.3d 1087 (2014). In Rose, the defendant stole a credit card solicitation that included an inactivated MasterCard credit card. Id. at 14-15. The credit card looked like an active credit card. On its face, the card had an account number, the account holder's name, and an expiration date. Id. It also had a signature block and a three-digit security code on the back. Id.

The Supreme Court held that in order to prove the credit card was an "access device" as defined under RCW 9A.56.010(1), it was the State's burden to prove the card's usability at the time it was taken. The Supreme Court reasoned that the mere existence of a credit card was not necessarily proof beyond a reasonable doubt that it was an "access device" that could be used to obtain something of value. Id. at 18. The State needed proof the card Rose possessed was tied to an active account in order to prove it could be used to obtain something of value. Id. at 18.

Given the holding in Rose, the prosecutor here was absolutely incorrect when she told the jury the State had no burden to prove Thorson's credit cards could be used to obtain something of value when they were taken. While the State may not have been required to produce

credit card statements or receipts, it was still required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the usability of Thorson's card. Hence, it was patently improper for the prosecutor to tell the jury it had no burden to do so.

Not only did the prosecutor misstate the law to the State's benefit, but she compounded this serious error by also misrepresenting the facts. The prosecutor argued that, even though the State had no burden to prove usability, the State had presented evidence that the cards were used by Thorson that night to buy drinks. However, the record shows this was not so.

While Thorson testified she had two credit cards in her purse (RP 269-70), the State never established whether Thorson used her cards that night. In fact, when the prosecutor asked Thorson how she paid, Thorson specifically stated she paid cash. RP 270. As such, the prosecutor's representation of the facts was patently incorrect and seriously misleading as to a core issue in dispute.

The prosecutor's misstatement of the law as to the State's burden of proof and her blatant misrepresentation of the facts was flagrant misconduct. As shown below, this misconduct struck at the heart of the defense and resulted in an enduring prejudice that likely affected the jury's verdict.

(ii) Misleading the Jury in its Duty to Independently Determine Credibility

1. Relevant Facts

During closing argument, defense counsel addressed Simerly's motive for shifting the blame to Turner, emphasizing that Simerly's testimony was not credible because he was biased by his own self-interest to avoid a criminal charge. RP 748-750. Conversely, Satak's counsel emphasized that Simerly was credible when he testified that Thorson and her friends were egging on the fight and had used the "N" word. RP 768.

In response, the prosecutor addressed the defenses' arguments as to Simerly's credibility, stating:

You cannot have it both ways. Either he is lying about everything or he is telling the truth about everything, but you can't pick and choose the parts that help you and the parts that hurt you, and that's what they want you to do.

RP 782.

2. Legal argument

The law is well settled that determinations of credibility are solely for the jury. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). The jury's exclusive realm of deciding witness credibility must be protected from invasion. State v. Green, 182 Wn. App. 133, 155-56, 328 P.3d 988, 999 (2014).

Judging the credibility of a witness is not an all-or-nothing proposition. State v. Carothers, 9 Wn. App. 691, 693, 514 P.2d 170, 172 (1973); Munoz-Monsalve v. Mukasey, 551 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2008); United States v. Cassidy, 6 F.3d 554, 557 (8th Cir.1993); State v. Cola, 77 Ohio App. 3d 448, 452, 602 N.E.2d 730, 733 (Ohio Ct. App. 1991). In reaching its verdict, it is the jury's duty to weigh all of the evidence, credit or discredit the testimony as it sees fit, and draw reasonable inferences from the evidence while rejecting other possible inferences. James v. Robeck, 79 Wn.2d 864, 870, 490 P.2d 878 (1971). The fact finder is permitted to credit each witness's testimony in whole or in part and accord different weight to different pieces of testimony. Munoz-Monsalve, 551 F.3d at 8.

Here, the prosecutor invaded the province of the jury and diverted the it away from its duty to be the sole determiner of credibility by telling them they had to believe all or none of the witness' testimony. In essence, she told the jury that credibility was an all-or-nothing proposition. This is incorrect.

The jury is permitted to find some aspects of a witness' testimony credible, but not others. In fact, the jury has the duty to independently weigh the facts as it sees fit without being bound by the type of all-or-nothing formula set forth by the prosecutor. Despite this, the prosecutor

implied it was improper for the jury to consider credibility on a fact-by-fact basis. As such, the prosecutor's misleading rhetoric served no other purpose than to divert the jury from its duty to independently assess witness credibility and weigh the evidence as it saw fit.

As explained further below, the prosecutor's statement that credibility is an all-or-nothing proposition touched upon a core issue in dispute and an issue central to the resolution of this case. Hence, the prosecutor's misconduct in diverting the jury from its duty, whether standing alone or in conjunction with other misconduct, resulted in enduring prejudice.

(iii) Impugning the Role and Integrity of Defense Counsel and Giving a Personal Opinion about the Defendants' Veracity.

1. Relevant Facts

Both Turner and Satak testified that Simerly looked to be high on methamphetamine at the time of the incident. RP 551-52, 557, 609-10. Contrarily, Officer Brenda Anderson testified that she did not detect any indications Simerly was high when she interviewed him a few hours later. RP 655-56.

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