No. 48095-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **DIVISION TWO**

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

KENNETH TURNER,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Eric Price, Judge Cause No. 14-1-00857-4

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

##

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

In *Negrete*<sup>4</sup>, for example, the prosecutor said that defense counsel was "being paid to twist the words of the witnesses." 72 Wn. App. at 66. In *State v. Gonzales*, the prosecutor impermissibly contrasted the roles of prosecutor and defense counsel, stating that while the defense attorney's duty was to his criminal client, the prosecutor's duty was "ito see that justice is served." 111 Wn. A... 276, 283, 45 P.3d 205 (2002). And in *Bruno*<sup>5</sup>, "the obvious import of the prosecutor's comments was that *all* defense counsel in criminal cases are retained solely to lie and distort the facts and camouflage the truth." 72 F.2d at 1194.

Lindsey, 180 Wn.2d at 433.

Even if it was error to use the words "insulting" and "offensive," it was not reversible error. "A curative instruction may be used to alleviate any prejudicial effect of an attack on defense counsel." <u>State v. Lile</u>, 193 Wn. App. 179, 209, \_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ (2016). Here an instruction certainly could have eliminated any prejudice, but Turner did not request one. He has waived his claim of prosecutorial misconduct. Weber, 159 Wn.2d at 270.

Finally, the jury was instructed that the law was contained in the instructions and that it was to ignore any arguments not

<sup>4 &</sup>lt;u>State v. Negrete</u>, 72 Wn. App. 62, 863 P.2d 137 (1993), *review denied*, 123 Wn.2d 1030, 877 P.2d 695 (1994).

<sup>5</sup> Bruno v. Rushen, 721 F.2d 1193, 1195 (9th Cir. 1983).

supported by the instructions. CP 15. Jurors are presumed to follow instructions. <u>State v. Warren</u>, 165 Wn.2d 17, 29, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

Turner reargues his claims that the prosecutor misstated the evidence and the law during closing argument as a basis for finding the challenged remarks prejudicial. But, as discussed above, Turner has misinterpreted the prosecutor's arguments. There is nothing in this record to support a conclusion that Turner was prejudiced in any way, particularly because the jury acquitted him of one of the two charges for which he was tried. RP 804.

> 2. <u>Defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to</u> <u>object to the prosecutor's rebuttal argument.</u> <u>There was nothing objectionable about the</u> <u>argument</u>.

Turner argues that his attorney rendered ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the portions of the prosecutor's closing arguments which he challenges on appeal.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. <u>State v. White</u>, 80 Wn. App. 406, 410, 907 P.2d 310 (1995). To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an appellant must show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced him. <u>State v. Thomas</u>,

109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Deficient performance occurs when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 705, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). An appellant cannot rely on matters of legitimate trial strategy or tactics to establish deficient performance. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). Prejudice occurs when, but for the deficient performance, the outcome would have been different. In re Pers. Restraint of Pirtle, 136 Wn.2d 467, 487, 965 P.2d 593 (1996). There is great judicial deference to counsel's performance and the analysis begins with a strong presumption that counsel was effective. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). A reviewing court need not address both prongs of the test if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one prong. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 104 S. Ct. at 1069-70. Moreover, counsel's failure to offer a frivolous objection will not support a finding of ineffective

assistance. <u>State v. Briggins</u>, 11 Wn. App. 687, 692, 524 P.2d 694, *review denied*, 84 Wn. 2d 1012 (1974).

The test for whether a criminal defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel is if, after considering the entire record, it can be said that the accused was afforded effective representation and a fair and impartial trial. State v. Thomas, 71 Wn.2d 470, 471, 429 P.2d 231 (1967); State v. Bradbury, 38 Wn. App. 367, 370, 685 P.2d 623 (1984). Thus, "the purpose of the effective assistance guarantee of the Sixth Amendment is not to improve the quality of legal representation", but rather to ensure defense counsel functions in a manner "as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-689; See Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 68-69, 53 S. Ct. 55, 77 L. Ed. 158 (1932). This does not mean, then, that the defendant is guaranteed successful assistance of counsel, but rather one which "make[s] the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690; State v. Adams, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978); State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972). "The requirement that counsel be effective is Counsel is required to be not a result-oriented standard.

competent, but not necessarily victorious." <u>Wiley v. Sowders</u>, 647 F.2d 642, 648 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981).

First, the prosecutor's arguments were not objectionable. Defense counsel has no duty to object to arguments just for the sake of making an objection. Second, even if objections would have been appropriate, which they were not, it cannot be said from the viewpoint of the entire trial that counsel rendered ineffective assistance. As argued above, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim is reserved for those instances where counsel's performance was truly substandard and the defendant did not get a real defense at all. That was not the case here. Counsel vigorously defended Turner and was able to convince the jury to acquit him of the third degree malicious mischief charge.

Defense counsel was not ineffective.

 Statutes which impose certain mandatory financial obligations regardless of present ability to pay do not violate substantive due process. Due process comes into consideration when an attempt is made to collect those financial obligations. Further, because he did not raise the issue in the trial court, and because he lacks standing to claim a constitutional violation, this court should decline to review it.

At sentencing, the court imposed a \$500 victim assessment, \$200 in court costs, and a \$100 DNA fee. CP 42-43. His attorney asked that his legal financial obligations be limited to those amounts. Sentencing RP 10-11. The court declined to impose a witness fee. Turner made no objection in the trial court. Id.

On appeal, Turner makes a lengthy argument that imposing even mandatory financial obligations on defendants who have not been shown to have the ability to pay violates substantive due process under both the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and art. I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution. He does not allege that he is unable to pay the costs imposed, now or in the future.

Costs are authorized by statute. "[S]tatutes authorizing costs are in derogation of common law and should be strictly construed." <u>State v. Moon</u>, 124 Wn. App. 190, 195, 100 P.3d 357 (2004). RCW 9.94A.030(30) provides, in part, that a "legal financial obligation" is an amount of money ordered by the court and may include restitution, crime victims' compensation fees, court costs, drug funds, attorney fees, costs of defense, fines, and "any other financial obligation that is assessed to the offender as a result of a felony conviction."

#### a. LFOs that were imposed.

(i). <u>Crime victim assessment</u>.

A crime victim assessment is required by RCW 7.68.035.

When any person is found guilty in any superior court of having committed a crime, [other than certain motor vehicle crimes], there shall be imposed by the court upon such convicted person a penalty assessment. The assessment shall be in addition to any other penalty or fine imposed by law and shall be five hundred dollars for each case or cause of action that includes one or more convictions of a felony or gross misdemeanor and two hundred fifty dollars for any case or cause of action that includes convictions of only one or more misdemeanors.

RCW 7.68.035(1)(a).

The victim assessment of \$500 is mandatory. <u>State v.</u> <u>Curry</u>, 118 Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); <u>State v. Suttle</u>, 61 Wn. App. 703, 714, 812 P.2d 119 (1991); <u>State v. Eisenman</u>, 62 Wn. App. 640, 646, 810 P.2d 55 (1991) (victim assessment is not a "cost"); <u>State v. Bower</u>, 64 Wn. App. 808, 812, 827 P.2d 308 (1992).

(ii). Court filing fee

Although this is listed with court costs on the judgment and

sentence, the \$200 filing fee is mandatory and cannot be waived.

RCW 36.18.020(2)(a) directs the clerk of the superior court to collect a \$200 filing fee for the initiation of most litigation. RCW

36.18.020(2)(h) provides:

Upon conviction or plea of guilty, upon failure to prosecute an appeal from a court of limited jurisdiction as provided by law, or upon affirmance of a conviction by a court of limited jurisdiction, a defendant is a criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars.

Because the court has no discretion regarding the filing fee, a court's failure to find the defendant has the ability to pay is not error. <u>State v. Lundy</u>, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

#### (iii). DNA collection fee.

A fee for DNA collection is required by RCW 43.43.7541: "Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 *must* include a fee of one hundred dollars." (Emphasis added.) Even if the state patrol crime lab already has a DNA sample from the defendant, the fee must be ordered for each sentence imposed for crimes specified in RCW 43.43.754. All other financial obligations take precedence and the DNA collection fee is the last to be collected, but it is mandatory. The fee is a "court-ordered legal financial obligation as defined in RCW 9.94A.030." RCW 43.43.754.

The imposition of a \$100 DNA collection fee has been mandatory since June 12, 2008. RCW 43.43.7541; <u>State v.</u> Thompson, 153 Wn. App. 325, 336, 338, 223 P.3d 1165 (2009).

b. <u>This court has discretion to accept or decline</u> review of arguments raised for the first time on appeal. It should decline to review this claim.

The Supreme Court has held that it is error for the court to impose *discretionary* LFOs without an individualized inquiry into the defendant's present and future ability to pay. <u>State v. Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). The amounts imposed on Turner are not discretionary, as explained above. <u>Blazina</u> does not require the review of even discretionary LFOs when the claim is raised for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Malone</u>, COA No. 32781-7-III (May 5, 2016), *slip op.* at 3.

"Trial courts must impose mandatory LFOs, and may impose discretionary costs as well." <u>Malone</u>, *slip op.* at 4. Turner is required to pay only \$800 in mandatory LFOs, CP 42-43, not a huge sum to expect a young man to pay essentially over his lifetime. <u>Blazina</u> raised policy concerns about imposing LFOs on defendants without inquiry into their ability to pay, but Turner has not claimed he will never be able to pay \$800. If he does not pay, somebody will—the taxpayers. The statutes making these LFOs mandatory are clearly an effort to shift the financial burden from the taxpayers to the people who cause the expense in the first place. In Malone, the court declined to review a due process challenge to

LFOs raised for the first time on appeal because Malone had not shown any evidence that he could not pay.

Turner was born on May 23, 1984. CP 40. At the time of sentencing he was 31 years old. He testified at trial that at the time the incident occurred, he worked at Popeye's in Lacey. RP 606. At sentencing his attorney said he held a certificate for asbestos removal and had been engaging in that type of work. 09/24/15 RP 10. Counsel told the court Turner had a limited ability to pay fines in the future, but did not explain why that was so. 09/24/15 RP 11. Turner submitted statements from his family saying he did what he could to be employed. 09/24/15 RP 14. Turner was given the low end of the standard range in confinement, and only mandatory LFOs were imposed.

There is no reason for this court to review this claim not raised below.

c. Turner lacks standing to raise this claim.

Except under circumstances not relevant here, a party may generally challenge a statute only if he is harmed by the feature of the statute that is claimed to be unconstitutional. <u>Kadoranian v.</u> <u>Bellingham Police Dep't.</u>, 119 Wn.2d 178, 191, 829 P.2d 1061 (1992). Turner's claim is that, as applied to indigent offenders, the

statute is an unreasonable exercise of the State's power to recoup costs from defendants. To establish that he has standing, he must satisfy both prongs of a two-pronged test. First, he must show "a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief." <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014), *quoting* <u>High Tide</u> <u>Seafoods v. State</u>, 106 Wn.2d 695, 702, 725 P.2d 411 (1986). The injury must be "(a) concrete and particularized; and (b) actual or imminent, not 'conjectural' or 'hypothetical.'" <u>Witt v. Dep't. of Air</u> <u>Force</u>, 527 F.3d 805, 811 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008), *quoting* <u>Lujan v.</u> <u>Defenders of Wildlife</u>, 504 U.S. 555, 560, 112 S. Ct. 2130, 119 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1992). Second, Turner must establish that his claim falls "within the zone of interests protected by the statute or constitutional provision at issue." Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 552.

The due process clause of the United States Constitution prevents a state from arbitrarily punishing indigent defendants for failing to pay court-imposed costs that they cannot pay. <u>Bearden v.</u> <u>Georgia</u>, 461 U.S. 660, 665, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983). A constitutional violation occurs when the State sanctions an indigent person without demonstrating a contumacious failure to pay. <u>Johnson</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 553. The individual, however, must

be constitutionally indigent. <u>Id</u>. While recognizing that there is no "precise definition" of constitutional indigence, it is not mere poverty. <u>Id</u>. The court must consider the totality of a defendant's financial status to determine constitutional indigence or lack of same. Id. at 553-54. Statutory indigence is not enough. Id. at 555.

While we do not question the State may not punish an indigent defendant for the fact of his or her indigence, these constitutional considerations protect only the constitutionally indigent. . . . Requiring payment of the fine may have imposed a hardship on [Johnson], but not such a hardship that the constitution forbids it. Lewis, 19 Cal. Rptr. at 422<sup>6</sup> (the constitution does not require the trial court to allow a defendant the same standard of living he had become accustomed).

Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 555.

Turner has not shown that he is, and will always be, unable to pay LFOs. Apart from a passing reference in his brief to "defendants such as Mr. Turner who do not have the ability to pay LFOs," the record includes his claim to have a \$6000 debt, although he owns property valued at \$4500. Appellant's Opening Brief at 41; CP 57. He sought an appeal bond, and in his statement of facts he said, "I have a family out there that need (sic) me, I am the sole provider, my job is a laborer . . . I do have possessions & a house I may lose." CP 53. Even if he qualified for court-appointed

<sup>6</sup> People v. Lewis, 19 Cal. App. 3d 1019, 97 Cal. Rptr. 419, 421 (1971).

counsel, which may well be the case, that is a finding of statutory indigence, not constitutional indigence. Turner has not shown himself to be in the class protected by the due process clause.

In addition to failing to show indigence, Turner has failed to show that he was harmed by the imposition of the costs. While he recites a list of complaints regarding the "broken" LFO system in this state, he does not claim that the State has attempted to collect any of these monies. A constitutional violation occurs when the State sanctions a constitutionally indigent individual who did not contumaciously fail to pay. <u>Johnson</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 553.

Turner has not shown indigence or harm from the statutes he challenges. He lacks standing to bring these claims, and the court should not reach the merits of those claims.

# d. <u>Imposing these LFOs does not implicate due</u> process.

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